1989

# Jerry Gillespie dba Jerry's Drywall and Pamela Gillespie v. John P. Pizzello : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT AND CASE HISTORY

Jurisdiction lies with this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j) (Supp. 1989). This appeal is taken from the March 21, 1989, final judgment of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, The Honorable Scott Daniels presiding, denying defendant John P. Pizzello's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying defendant's motion to set aside the default judgment?
2. Was defendant denied due process, both under the United States Constitution and the Utah Constitution?
3. Did the trial court err in concluding that it had obtained jurisdiction upon the defendant John P. Pizzello through valid service of process.

## DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITIES

United States Constitution, Amendment Fourteen, §1:

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the state wherein they reside. No state shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of the citizens of the United States; nor shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

Utah Constitution, Article I, §7:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

Utah Constitution, Article I, §11:

All courts shall be open, and every person for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have a remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay; and no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in the state, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party.

Rule 4, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure: See Addendum A.

Rule 60, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure: See Addendum B.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceedings and Disposition of the Court Below.

The controversy in the instant appeal arises out of an automobile accident which occurred on April 16, 1986. The automobile accident involved a vehicle driven and owned by defendant Dale W. Gertz and a vehicle driven by plaintiff Pamela E. Gillespie, which vehicle was owned by plaintiff Jerry Gillespie. (R. 2-3).

The Gillespies filed a complaint against the defendant Gertz on or about June 30, 1987. (R. 2). Thereafter, on or about January 7, 1988, plaintiffs amended their complaint to include defendant Sprinklers, Sod and Such and John P. Pizzello. (R. 22).

On October 11, 1988, a default judgment was entered against defendant John P. Pizzello based upon the affidavit of the process server indicating that service had been obtained against the defendant Pizzello. (R. 38-39).

On January 9, 1989, within three months of the default judgment, defendant Pizzello, through counsel, filed a motion to



set aside judgment along with a memorandum in support of motion to set aside default. (R. 47-48).

Plaintiffs' counsel filed its memorandum in opposition on or about January 23, 1989, and defendant Pizzello filed his reply memorandum on or about January 26. Also filed with the reply memorandum was a request to submit the motion for a decision. (R. 49-58).

On January 31, 1989, plaintiffs filed a request for oral argument and hearing. However, on January 17, 1989, without oral argument, the Honorable Scott Daniels caused to be filed a minute entry denying defendant's motion to set aside the default judgment. (R. 66-67; 73).

**B. Statement of Facts.**

1. The vehicle that was driven by Mr. Gertz which was involved in the April 16, 1986 automobile accident was owned by defendant Gertz but was insured under an automobile insurance policy issued to defendant John P. Pizzello by Guaranty National Insurance Company. (R. 43). The vehicle involved in the accident was a 1984 Chevrolet S-10, Utah License No. AH4-557. (R. 2).

2. On April 16, 1986, plaintiff Pamela Gillespie was stopped behind cars proceeding south on State Street, at the intersection of 3900 South in Salt Lake City. At that time, plaintiff was allegedly rear-ended by defendant Gertz while he was operating the 1984 Chevrolet S-10. (R. 3).

3. Plaintiffs alleged in their amended complaint that defendant Pizzello was involved in a partnership with defendant

Gertz known as Sprinklers, Sod and Such. Plaintiffs further alleged that the defendant Gertz was acting in the course of business conducted by Sprinklers, Sod and Such at the time of the subject accident. (R. 22-24).

4. The original complaint filed by the plaintiffs named only Dale Gertz as defendant. (R. 2). Following the filing of the original complaint, plaintiffs filed a subpoena ducus tecum upon Guaranty National Insurance Company on August 31, 1987 requesting documentation of all insurance policies issued to John P. Pizzello. (R. 10).

5. After receiving information regarding the insurance of John P. Pizzello, the Gillespies caused to be filed the amended complaint, naming as defendants Dale W. Gertz, John P. Pizzello, and Sprinklers, Sod and Such. (R. 27).

6. The Gillespies attempted to obtain personal service upon defendant Pizzello and retained David T. Holland to perfect service upon Mr. Pizzello. Mr. Holland attested that he was able to obtain personal service upon Mr. Pizzello with the summons and amended complaint on April 21, 1988. (R. 36-37).

7. On the back of the return of service, Mr. Holland wrote that he observed Mr. Pizzello go into what he believed to be Mr. Pizzello's apartment. (R. 37). Mr. Holland thereafter went to the apartment door, rang the doorbell and yelled that he had a court summons and amended complaint for Mr. Pizzello. (R. 69). Mr. Holland attested there was no answer and that no one opened the door. (R. 69). Mr. Holland further attested he continued to

pound on the door and ring the doorbell for approximately 10 minutes with no response. (R. 70). Mr. Holland then announced that as an officer of the Salt Lake Court, he was leaving the court summons and amended complaint at the front door of the apartment and that by doing so concluded that service had been obtained. (R. 70). Mr. Holland then attested that approximately five minutes later, he saw whom he believed to be Mr. Pizzello drive away from the apartment complex. (R. 71). Mr. Holland allegedly then went back to the apartment and saw that the summons and amended complaint which had been left by the door was gone. (R. 71).

8. No answer to the complaint was filed by Mr. Pizzello and on or about October 11, 1988, the Honorable Scott Daniels entered a default judgment against Mr. Pizzello. (R. 39).

9. On January 19, 1989, the defendant John P. Pizzello, within three months of the date of the default judgment, through counsel retained by defendant Pizzello's insurer, moved the court for a motion to set aside default judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. 47-48). Following exchange of memoranda by the parties, Judge Daniels on January 17, 1989, caused a minute entry to be filed indicating that the defendant's motion to set aside the default judgment was denied. Judge Daniels decided the matter without oral argument despite a request for oral argument from counsel for the Gillespies. (R. 66-67; 73). On March 21, 1989, an order was signed reflecting the court's denial of defendant Pizzello's motion to set aside default judgment. (R. 74-75).

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The trial court abused its discretion in failing to set aside the default judgment. Pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the trial court is vested with discretion in setting aside the default judgment. The Utah Court of Appeals has held that where a reasonable excuse is offered by a defaulting party, the courts should generally tend to favor granting relief from a default judgment particularly where the adequacy of service of process has not clearly been determined.

2. The standard established by the Utah Supreme Court in determining whether a motion to set aside default judgment should be granted violates the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of United States Constitution. Particularly to the extent that the defendant is required to offer proof of a meritorious defense when seeking to set aside a default judgment. The United States Supreme Court has held that a procedural rule which requires a showing a meritorious defense is unconstitutional when the requirements imposed is in addition to procedural requirements which would otherwise justify setting aside a default judgment.

3. The requirements of showing a meritorious defense in addition to the procedural requirements of Rule 60(b) also violate the Utah Constitution's guarantee of due process. Additionally, the defendant was deprived of open access to the courts as also guaranteed by the Utah Constitution.

4. The trial court lacked jurisdiction over the defen-

dant Pizzello as a result of the invalid service attempted against defendant Pizzello. Defendant was not served personally nor was there a refusal by the defendant to accept a copy of the process. As such, the court lacked the jurisdiction to enter the default against the defendant in the first instance.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I.

#### THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT.

Defendant recognizes that the Utah Supreme Court has held that the trial court has considerable discretion in considering a motion to set aside a judgment. Defendant also acknowledges that the appellate court will not overturn a denial of a defendant's motion to set aside default unless there is an abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court.

In citing the above-mentioned rule, the Utah Supreme Court in Gardiner & Gardiner Builders v. Swapp, 656 P.2d 429 (Utah 1982), stated:

The trial court has considerable discretion ruling on a motion to set aside a default judgment under Rule 60(b) and this Court will reverse the trial court only where a clear abuse of discretion is shown. Mayhew v. Standard Gilsonite Co., 14 Utah 2d 52, 376 P.2d 951 (1962); Central Finance Co. v. Kynaston, 22 Utah 2d 284, 452 P.2d 316 (1969); Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, 30 Utah 2d 65, 513 P.2d 429 (1973).

Id. at 430.

In Swapp, the Supreme Court found no abuse of discretion by the trial court in refusing to set aside a default judgment

where the trial court entered a default judgment based upon the defendant's repeated failure to comply with discovery. The lower court had held that Swapp's motion to set aside the judgment was based upon negligence and was therefore not filed within the three-month time limit of Rule 60(b)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

The Utah Supreme Court on occasion has ruled that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to set aside a default judgment. The Supreme Court has not particularly outlined what would constitute abuse of discretion. However, the court has issued general guidelines on the subject.

In Interstate Excavating v. Agla Development, 611 P.2d 369 (Utah 1980), the court offered the following:

It is not to be questioned that in appropriate circumstances default judgments are justified; and when they are, they are invulnerable to attack. However, they are not favored in the law, especially where a party has timely responded with challenging pleadings. When that has been done some caution should be observed to see that the party is not taken advantage of. Speaking generally about such problems, it is to be kept in mind that access to the courts for the protection of rights and the settlement of disputes is the one of the most important factors in the maintenance of a peaceful and well ordered society. . . .

\* \* \*

The uniformly acknowledged policy of the law is to accord litigants the opportunity for a hearing on the merits, where that can be done without serious injustice to the other party. To that end, the courts are generally indulgent toward

the setting aside of default judgments where there is a reasonable justification or excuse for the defendant's failure to appear, and where timely application is made to set it aside. Consistent with the objective just stated, where there is doubt about whether a default should be set aside, the doubt should be resolved in favor of doing so, to the end that each party may have an opportunity to present his side of the controversy and that there be a resolution in accordance with the law and justice.

Id. at 371.

In Interstate Excavating, defendant sought reversal of the denial of its motion based upon Rule 60(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, to set aside a default judgment. The plaintiff filed its complaint in May of 1978. The defendant timely answered the complaint and asserted an answer and defenses as well as a counterclaim. A pretrial conference was held on April 16, 1979, at which time defendant's counsel made a motion to withdraw, which motion was granted. The court instructed plaintiff's attorney to notify the defendant to obtain new counsel. The court also set the case for trial for May 7, 1979 despite the defendant's counsel's withdrawal. Plaintiff's attorneys certified that on April 16, notice of the trial setting was mailed to the defendant's business address. Defendant's attorney also certified that he mailed to the defendant a notice of the trial setting and notice of his withdrawal as counsel. However, the defendant denied ever receiving notice from his former attorney or the plaintiff's attorney regarding the trial setting. The trial date was set for May 7 and no one appeared on behalf of the defendant. Judgment was entered by the plaintiff and defendant's counterclaim

was dismissed.

The defendant argued before the lower court that its former counsel withdrew from a number of cases simultaneously and that the notice to appoint counsel may have been misplaced with other papers served upon the defendant's office by mail. Defendant further argued in support of its motion to set aside the default that it had no notice of the trial until it received the notice of a judgment dated May 14. Upon receipt of the notice of judgment, the defendant immediately contacted present counsel, who then filed the motion to set aside the default. In overturning the lower court's denial to set aside the default judgment, the Supreme Court stated:

Application of the principles discussed herein to the instant situation leads us to the conclusion that the interests of justice will best be served by setting aside the default judgment and giving the parties that opportunity. In that connection, we call attention to the prefatory clause of Rule 60(b) that "upon such terms as are just" a party may be relieved from judgment. This authorizes the trial court to impose such terms as may be just as a condition to setting aside the default.

Id. at 371.

Under the facts of the instant case, this court is justified in concluding that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to grant defendant's motion to set aside the default. There is a genuine issue as to whether or not the service of process upon Mr. Pizzello was adequate. The alleged service upon Mr. Pizzello did not comply with Rule 4(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and there is no evidence offered by the



plaintiff that the defendant was refusing service. Without personal service in this matter, as will be discussed in greater detail below, the trial court may have lacked jurisdiction to enter a default judgment. At the least, the court abused its discretion when service upon the defendant was questionable.

Additionally, defendant should have been relieved of judgment based upon excusable neglect. The plaintiffs' only allegation against Mr. Pizzello is that he was in partnership with Mr. Gertz in a business known as Sprinklers, Sod and Such. The plaintiffs allege that Mr. Gertz was acting in the scope of his business at the time of the automobile accident. However, in answer to the plaintiffs' amended complaint, Mr. Gertz specifically denied that he was acting in the course and scope of his business when he was involved in the accident with Pamela Gillespie. There is no evidence to substantiate the plaintiffs' claims that Mr. Pizzello had any liability to the plaintiffs for the damages caused. Therefore, assuming the amended complaint and summons was served upon Mr. Pizzello, he was at worst liable for excusable neglect for failing to act on the matter.

The trial court erred in failing to liberally grant relief from judgment and in so doing denied the defendant his opportunity to be heard on the merits of the matter. If the defendant in Interstate Excavating was granted relief from judgment so that the interests of justice would be served by giving the parties an opportunity to litigate the merits of the case, it would appear that this defendant should also be granted the same

relief by this court.

POINT II.

THE "MUSSELMAN STANDARD" ESTABLISHED BY THE  
UTAH SUPREME COURT VIOLATES THE DUE PROCESS  
CLAUSE OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT.

The Utah Supreme Court in the case of State By and Through Dept. of Social Services v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053 (Utah 1983), outlined three requirements that must be met by a defendant in order to be relieved from default judgment. Those requirements include a showing that the judgment was entered against the defendant through excusable neglect (or any other reason specified in Rule 60(b)); a showing that the defendant's motion to set aside the judgment was timely; and a showing of a meritorious defense to the action.

In the underlying action of the instant case, the defendant cited the Musselman case in its memorandum in support of motion to set aside judgment and argued to the court that the requirements outlined in Musselman had been met by the defendant Pizzello and as such, the defendant should be entitled to relief from default judgment.

The lower court on refusing to set aside the default judgment must have determined that the defendant had failed to meet one or more of the three-part test developed by the Supreme Court in Musselman. The defendant's motion, however, was timely as it was filed within three months of the date of judgment. Additionally, the defendant argued that he was entitled to have the default set aside on the basis of mistake, inadvertence,

surprise or excusable neglect under Rule 60(b)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Additionally, the defendant argued that relief should be granted under Rule 60(b)(4) which provides that a party may be relieved from final judgment when the summons in the action has not been personally served upon the defendant as required by Rule 4(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. As two of the three requirements of Musselman were clearly met, it would appear that the trial court's only basis for refusing to set aside the default judgment was based upon the failure to show a meritorious defense to the action.

The defendant did attempt to outline in the memorandum in support of motion to set aside the default and in the reply memorandum in support of motion to set aside the default his meritorious defense to the action. Whether that attempt was insufficient in showing a meritorious defense should not have been the determining factor to the denial of his motion. The need to show meritorious defense violated the defendant's constitutional right of due process guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment. Particularly to the extent that the defendant was required to offer proof of a meritorious defense when he sought to set aside the default judgment.

In Gary Fassio v. The Honorable Maurice Jones and Collection Management Agency, Inc., No. 88-C-965G (D. Utah 1989) (Memorandum Decision and Order) (see Addendum C), Judge Greene of the United States District Court for the District of Utah, concluded that the promulgated procedural rule of court developed in

Musselman which imposed the showing of a meritorious defense before a default judgment could be vacated was unconstitutional as a violation of the due process clause of the United States Constitution.

In Fassio, the plaintiff Gary Fassio wrote and issued a check in the amount of \$8.71 to Hires, a Salt Lake City restaurant. The check was thereafter dishonored for insufficient funds and was returned to Hires unpaid. On April 15, 1988, after receiving notice that the check was not paid, plaintiff mailed a money order in the amount of \$10.00 to Hires to cover the check and to help defray additional costs. On October 29, 1988, defendant Collection Management Agency, Inc., at the direction of Hires filed a civil action against Fassio for the collection of the dishonored check. Fassio was properly served with a summons and complaint but believed that the matter was resolved when he sent the money order to Hires. Fassio therefore did not file an answer. On June 2, 1988, a default was taken in the Third Circuit Court and on June 9, 1988, default judgment was entered against Mr. Fassio in the amount of \$190.46.

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