1989

Jerry Gillespie dba Jerry's Drywall and Pamela Gillespie v. John Pizzello : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The determination of whether to set aside a default judgment is within the broad discretion of the trial court, and may be set aside only if an abuse of discretion is clearly shown. There is nothing on the record to indicate an abuse of discretion by the trial court.

2. The trial court's conclusion that Pizzello had been properly served was based on credible evidence on the record, and no contrary evidence was submitted by Pizzello. The decision whether or not to believe the plaintiffs' evidence was a decision to be made by the trial court rather than the appellate courts. The factual findings of the trial court may only be disturbed if they are clearly against the weight of the evidence. The trial court having found that Pizzello was served, and its finding having been based on uncontroverted evidence, its finding may not be reversed on appeal.

3. In the District Court, Pizzello sought to have the default judgment against him set aside on a theory of excusable neglect. In order to show excusable neglect, a defendant seeking relief from a default judgment must show both (i) that he or she exercised due diligence, and (ii) that he or she was prevented

from appearing by circumstances over which he or she had no control. Pizzello's argument that he believed that he did not need to respond to the complaint in this action failed to satisfy either requirement, is opposed to Utah case authority, and is unsupported by any evidence on the record. Therefore, the trial court's conclusion that Pizzello had not proven excusable neglect was clearly within its broad discretion.

4. No basis exists for presuming that the District Court ever reached the issue of whether or not Pizzello had shown a meritorious defense. The meritorious defense issue would only have been reached if Pizzello had first persuaded the court of his excusable neglect. A ruling by the District Court is to be affirmed if there exist any grounds for affirmance, and the District Court's ruling should be affirmed on the basis of Pizzello's failure to show excusable neglect. Therefore the issue of whether Pizzello had shown a meritorious defense, and the issue of whether Pizzello could constitutionally have been required to make such a showing, need not be reached.

5. Even if it be assumed arguendo that the District Court reached the issue of whether or not Pizzello had shown a meritorious defense, and decided that he had not, the District Court's ruling should be affirmed. The due process clause, as interpreted by the United States Supreme Court, only mandates that a meritorious defense may not be required where valid service was never obtained. Because valid service was obtained in this instance, it would have been proper to require that a

meritorious defense be shown before the default judgment could be set aside.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DETERMINATION NOT TO SET ASIDE A DEFAULT JUDGMENT MAY NOT BE REVERSED ON APPEAL UNLESS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION HAS BEEN CLEARLY SHOWN. THE DEFENDANT HAS SHOWN NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN THIS CASE.

The Utah Supreme Court has repeatedly held that the determination of whether to set aside a default judgment is one within the broad discretion of the trial court, and a default judgment is to be set aside by the appellate courts only when an abuse of discretion is clearly shown. Katz v. Pierce, 732 P.2d 92 (Utah 1986); Russell v. Martell, 681 P.2d 1193 (Utah 1984); Gardiner and Gardiner Builders v. Swapp, 656 P.2d 429 (Utah 1982); Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, 30 Utah 2d 65, 513 P.2d 429 (1973); Masters v. LeSeuer, 13 Utah 2d 293, 373 P.2d 573 (1962); Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co., 260 P.2d 741 (Utah 1953).

In Katz v. Pierce, supra, the Court said:

[B]efore we will interfere with the trial court's exercise of discretion, abuse of that discretion must be clearly shown. Russell v. Martell, 681 P.2d 1193 (Utah 1984). That some basis may exist to set aside the default does not require the conclusion that the court abused its discretion in refusing to do so when facts and circumstances support the refusal. Cf. Wilson v. Miller, 198 Kan. 321, 424 P.2d 271, 273 (1967).

Id. at 93, citations in original. In Russell v. Martell, supra, cited in the foregoing, the Court said:

Broad discretion is accorded the trial court in ruling on relief from a judgment; and, this Court will reverse that ruling only if it is clear the trial court abused its discretion.

Id. at 1194.

The decision of whether or not to accept Pizzello's arguments was within the sound discretion of the trial court. In Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, supra, the Court stated the standard of review as follows:

[T]his court will not reverse the determination of the trial court merely because the motion could have been granted.

Id. at 431. The determination made by the District Court was within the broad discretion normally given to the District Court in this area. Therefore, the District Court's determination should be upheld.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT VALID SERVICE WAS OBTAINED WAS A FACTUAL DETERMINATION, BASED ON CREDIBLE AND UNCONTROVERTED EVIDENCE, WHICH IS PROPERLY WITHIN THE PROVINCE OF THE TRIAL COURT AND IS THEREFORE NOT SUBJECT TO REVERSAL ON APPEAL.

Rule 4(i) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides:

Refusal of copy. If the person to be served refuses to accept a copy of the process, service shall be sufficient if the person serving the same shall state the name of the process and offer to deliver a copy thereof.

Pizzello misstates the record in two important respects in arguing that service was not valid under the quoted provision. Pizzello incorrectly states that "at no time was this individual

[the person served] identified as defendant Pizzello" (Brief of Appellant, page 21). To the contrary, the affidavit of the plaintiffs' process server, David T. Holland, demonstrates his identification of Pizzello from a photograph, the fact that the motor vehicle driven by the individual served was registered to Pizzello, and the correlation between the parking space used by the individual served and Pizzello's apartment. (Affidavit of David T. Holland, R. 68-72, Addendum E hereto, ¶¶ 10, 20, 22.)

In addition, Pizzello incorrectly states that "[t]here is nothing in the record to suggest that the defendant Pizzello refused to be served" (Brief of Appellant, page 21). To the contrary, the affidavit of Mr. Holland shows Pizzello's failure to come to the door and accept service of process despite some ten minutes of yelling and knocking by Mr. Holland. (Affidavit of David T. Holland, R. 68-72, Addendum E hereto, ¶ 14.) Pizzello attempts to distinguish between the affirmative verbal refusal ruled upon in Wood v. Weenig, 736 P.2d 1053 (Utah App. 1987), and his own silence and failure to answer the door. Pizzello cites no authority for the proposition that silence or inactivity may not constitute a refusal.

It is undisputed that a person identified as Pizzello entered the apartment before Mr. Holland attempted to serve him and did not leave the apartment until afterward. (Affidavit of David T. Holland, R. 68-72, Addendum E hereto, ¶¶ 12, 19.) The obvious inference, which the District Court was free to draw, is that Pizzello was inside his apartment at the time. The District

Court was also free to find a refusal in Pizzello's failure to come to the door despite a commotion loud enough to disturb the neighbors. (Affidavit of David T. Holland, R. 68-72, Addendum E hereto, ¶ 14.) If the District Court were not free to draw such an obvious conclusion, but were only permitted to find a refusal when the refusal was verbally stated, then the "degrading game of wiles and tricks" referred to with disapproval in Wood v. Weenig, supra, at 1055, could be carried to new extremes simply by maintaining silence.

Finally, there is no basis in the record to conclude that copies of the Summons and Amended Complaint were not in fact placed in Pizzello's possession. According to the affidavit of Mr. Holland, Pizzello opened the door within a few minutes after copies of the Summons and Amended Complaint had been left in front of his door (no other documents or objects having been in the area), picked up something and studied it, went to his car and drove away. Mr. Holland then verified that the copies which he had left were no longer on Pizzello's doorstep, although no other persons had passed in front of Pizzello's doorway. (Affidavit of David T. Holland, R. 68-72, Addendum E hereto, ¶¶ 17, 19, 19 [sic].) The obvious inference, which the District Court was free to draw and which is not contradicted by any evidence placed on the record, is that Pizzello picked up the copies of the Summons and Amended Complaint which had been placed on his doorstep and took them with him. Service was therefore complete under Rule 4(e)(1), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which provides for personal service:

Upon a natural person of the age of 14 years or over, by delivering a copy thereof to him personally...

Pizzello filed no affidavit saying that he had not received copies of the Summons and Amended Complaint. Indeed, Pizzello argued in the District Court that he had not responded because "defendant did not feel that he had any responsibility with regards to the accident" (R. 45) and that "he felt he had no responsibility" (R. 63), theories which he would only have had occasion to reflect upon if he had in fact been placed in possession of copies of the Summons and Amended Complaint. However, Pizzello nonetheless seeks to have this Court rule, as a matter of law, that service did not occur.

The determination of disputed facts is the province of the trial court and not the appellate courts. Taylor v. Turner, 27 Utah 2d 39, 492 P.2d 1343 (1972). The factual findings of the trial court may only be disturbed if they are clearly against the weight of the evidence. Ute-Cal Land Development v. Intermountain Stock Exchange, 628 P.2d 1278 (1981); Farrell v. Turner, 25 Utah 2d 351, 482 P.2d 117 (1971). The District Court found the uncontroverted affidavit submitted by the plaintiffs credible, and drew the obvious inferences therefrom. Therefore, the District Court's factual finding that Pizzello had been served may not properly be reversed on appeal.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT THE DEFENDANT HAD NOT DEMONSTRATED EXCUSABLE NEGLIGENCE WAS PROPERLY WITHIN THE DISCRETION OF THE TRIAL COURT AND IS THEREFORE NOT SUBJECT TO REVERSAL ON APPEAL.

Pizzello relies upon Rule 60(b)(1), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which permits the District Court, within its discretion, to set aside a default judgment on grounds of "mistake, inadvertance, surprise, or excusable neglect". Pizzello argued before the District Court that "defendant did not feel that he had any responsibility" (R. 45) and that "he felt he had no responsibility" (R. 63). Pizzello's argument was very similar to that rejected by the Court in Russell v. Martell, 681 P.2d 1193 (Utah 1984). In Russell, one of the defendants, Mills, had failed to answer the complaint because he "felt no legal obligation to [the plaintiff] and did not feel motivated by the lawsuit to address [the plaintiff's] claims." Id. at 1194. In affirming the District Court's refusal to set aside the default judgment entered against Mills, the Utah Supreme Court said:

[H]is undenied statements that he felt no legal obligation to respond to the plaintiffs' claims support the trial court's denial of his motion.

Id. at 1195, emphasis added.

In effect, Pizzello argues that the District Court should have believed his theory that his neglect in failing to respond in this matter was excusable because he was merely a partner with the driver of the vehicle which collided with the plaintiff's vehicle. (Brief of Appellant, page 11.) However,

the decision of whether or not to accept Pizzello's theory was within the sound discretion of the trial court. Katz v. Pierce, 732 P.2d 92 (Utah 1986); Russell v. Martell, 681 P.2d 1193 (Utah 1984); Gardiner and Gardiner Builders v. Swapp, 656 P.2d 429 (Utah 1982); Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, 30 Utah 2d 65, 513 P.2d 429 (1973); Masters v. LeSeuer, 13 Utah 2d 293, 373 P.2d 573 (1962); Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co., 260 P.2d 741 (Utah 1953).

In order to demonstrate that his or her neglect was excusable, a defendant seeking to have a default set aside must make two separate showings. As stated by the Utah Supreme Court in Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, supra:

The movant must show that he has used due diligence and that he was prevented from appearing by circumstances over which he had no control.

Id. at 431, emphasis changed. Pizzello has not stated any facts that indicate any diligence, or any efforts whatsoever, in attempting to determine the correctness or incorrectness of his belief that he was not required to respond. Moreover, he has cited no "circumstances over which he had no control" which might have prevented him from answering the Amended Complaint.

In addition, the District Court was free to consider the hardship and prejudice to the plaintiffs which would have resulted from setting aside the default judgment in their favor. Katz v. Pierce, supra; Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, supra; Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co., supra. The plaintiffs had gone to considerable time and expense in driving to Salt Lake City for the hearing on the default judgment which took place on September 20, 1988.

In Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, supra, the Court said the following with respect to the District Court's broad discretion in ruling on the defendant's claim of excusable neglect:

[T]his court will not reverse the determination of the trial court merely because the motion could have been granted.

Id. at 431. In the present case, the determination made by the District Court was clearly well within its broad discretion.

POINT IV

THE CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE RAISED BY THE DEFENDANT NEED NOT BE REACHED, BECAUSE THERE IS NO INDICATION THAT THE DISTRICT COURT REACHED THE ISSUE OF WHETHER OR NOT A MERITORIOUS DEFENSE HAD BEEN SHOWN, AND BECAUSE THERE ARE SEPARATE GROUNDS FOR AFFIRMANCE.

In an apparent concession that he has not shown a meritorious defense, Pizzello argues that the District Court's ruling was a denial of due process because it allegedly was based on a requirement that Pizzello show a meritorious defense before the default judgment could be set aside. Pizzello makes his constitutional argument for the first time on appeal, after having argued in the District Court that his defense was in fact meritorious. An issue raised for the first time on appeal, which was not raised before the trial court, should not be considered on appeal. Heath v. Mower, 597 P.2d 855 (Utah 1979); Nelson v. Newman, 583 P.2d 601 (Utah 1978).

Pizzello disputes the constitutionality of the requirement of a meritorious defense as stated by the Utah

Supreme Court in State By and Through Department of Social Services v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053 (Utah 1983). However, in making his argument Pizzello necessarily glosses over the fact that there is nothing in the record to indicate that the District Court in the present action did base its ruling on the requirement of a meritorious defense. In Musselman, the Utah Supreme Court stated the sequence to be followed by the District Court:

[T]he policy in this jurisdiction requir[es] that the lower court consider and resolve the question of excusable neglect (when the motion to vacate the default judgment is based on excusable neglect) prior to its consideration of the issue of whether a meritorious defense exists.

Id. at 1056, emphasis added.

In the present case, as in Musselman, the issue of whether a meritorious defense existed would only have been reached if excusable neglect had already been shown. Although Pizzello states that he argued that there was excusable neglect, and that he argued that valid service was not made (Brief of Appellant, pages 12-13), Pizzello has cited nothing in the record to indicate that the District Court was persuaded by either of his arguments, and nothing in the record to indicate that the District Court even reached the issue of whether or not Pizzello had shown a meritorious defense. A ruling by the District Court is to be affirmed if there exist any grounds for affirmance. Global Recreation, Inc. v. Cedar Hills Development Company, 614 P.2d 155 (Utah 1980); Jespersion v. Jespersen, 610 P.2d 326 (Utah

1980); Allphin Realty, Inc. v. Sine, 595 P.2d 860 (Utah 1979); Goodsel v. Department of Business Regulation, 523 P.2d 1230 (Utah 1974). Pizzello's failure to demonstrate that service was improper or his neglect excusable (discussed supra, Points I-III) provides adequate grounds for refusing to set aside the District Court's ruling.

POINT V

A REQUIRMENT THAT A MERITORIOUS DEFENSE BE SHOWN WOULD NOT VIOLATE THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS BECAUSE VALID SERVICE OF THE SUMMONS AND AMENDED COMPLAINT HAD BEEN OBTAINED.

As discussed supra (Point IV), the ruling of the District Court may be affirmed without reaching the issue of whether or not Pizzello demonstrated a meritorious defense. However, even if it be assumed arguendo that it is necessary to reach the issue of whether or not a meritorious defense existed, Pizzello's constitutional argument must fail.

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